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Defendant-Appellant Charles Hall respectfully requests that this 

Court (1) grant the motion to recall the mandate, (2) amend its opinion 

of July 16, 20101 by deleting the sentence preceding Roman numeral I 

and deleting the last sentence of the opinion and the parenthetical 

citation that follows, and (3) remand his case for resentencing.  The 

United States does not oppose this motion and is in agreement with this 

request. 

The Court has inherent power to grant this relief, and it should 

exercise that power in light of the extraordinary circumstances here.  

Allowing the mandate to stand would perpetuate a grave injustice 

against Mr. Hall:  In its prior decision, this Court reversed the conviction 

that forms the basis for the 293-month prison sentence he is currently 

serving, but failed to remand for resentencing.  The now-reversed 

conviction severely impacted Mr. Hall’s sentence, increasing his 

Guidelines range from 188-235 months to 235-293 months. 

 

 

                                                      
1 United States v. Hall, 613 F.3d 249 (D.C. Cir. 2010).  The Court’s 

decision is attached as Exhibit A. 
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BACKGROUND 

I. Mr. Hall’s Conviction, Sentence, and Direct Appeal 

In 2006, a jury convicted Mr. Hall of one count of conspiracy to 

commit crimes against the United States, two counts of bank fraud, four 

counts of wire fraud, and one count of money laundering conspiracy, all 

related to a scheme to defraud mortgage lenders.  See United States v. 

Hall, No. 04-cr-543 (D.D.C.), ECF No. 153; United States v. Hall, 613 F.3d 

249, 251 (D.C. Cir. 2010).  The district court sentenced him to 293 months 

in prison on both bank fraud counts and the money laundering conspiracy 

count and to 60 months on each of the other counts, all to be served 

concurrently.  Hall, 613 F.3d at 251. 

Mr. Hall appealed his convictions and sentence.  Id. at 250.  In 2010, 

this Court reversed his money laundering conspiracy conviction.  Id. at 

254–55, 257.  The parties had not addressed in their briefs whether 

remand for resentencing would be required if the money laundering 

conspiracy conviction were reversed. 

Although it reversed the money laundering conspiracy conviction, 

the Court held “no remand for resentencing [wa]s necessary” because 

“concurrent sentences of 293 months were imposed on each of the bank 
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fraud charges as well as on the money laundering charge.”  Id. at 257 

(citing United States v. Kearney, 498 F.2d 61, 63 n.2 (D.C. Cir. 1974)).  In 

finding a remand for resentencing unnecessary, the Court appears to 

have assumed the bank fraud sentences were unaffected by the money 

laundering conspiracy conviction. 

That assumption was mistaken.  The Presentence Investigation 

Report (PSR) and sentencing transcript are unambiguous – Mr. Hall’s 

293-month bank fraud sentence was actually based on the now-reversed 

money laundering conspiracy conviction, and that conviction raised his 

Guidelines range from 188-235 months to 235-293 months.  Because 

understanding the basis for Mr. Hall’s sentence is critical to this motion, 

it is explained below in some detail. 

Applying the advisory Sentencing Guidelines, the PSR grouped the 

conspiracy, bank fraud, and wire fraud counts because they involved 

substantially the same harm.  PSR ¶ 32 (citing USSG § 3D1.2(d)).  The 

PSR then grouped those counts with the money laundering conspiracy 

count, PSR ¶ 32, because the Guidelines require “a count of laundering 

funds” to be grouped with “the underlying offense from which the 
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laundered funds were derived.”  See USSG §§ 2S1.1 n.6, 3D1.2(c) (cited 

in PSR ¶ 32). 

The money laundering guideline, § 2S1.1, applied to the entire 

group because it produced the highest offense level.  PSR ¶ 32 (citing 

USSG § 3D1.3(a)).  That guideline incorporates the offense level for the 

underlying offense – here, bank fraud.  See PSR ¶ 33 (citing USSG 

§ 2S1.1(a)(1)).  Critically, the money laundering guideline includes a 

specific offense characteristic that adds two offense levels for defendants 

who were “convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1956,” the money laundering 

statute.  PSR ¶ 34 (citing USSG § 2S1.1(b)(2)(B)); see 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) 

(money laundering conspiracy). 

Mr. Hall’s total offense level, with the two-level money laundering 

enhancement, was 37.  PSR ¶ 42.  Combined with a criminal history 

category of II, PSR ¶¶ 48, 97, the PSR calculated Mr. Hall’s Guidelines 

range to be 235-293 months.  PSR ¶ 97 (citing USSG Ch. 5, Pt. A).  If not 

for the two-point enhancement from the money laundering conspiracy 

conviction, that range would have been 188-235 months.  See USSG Ch. 

5, Pt. A (offense level 35, criminal history II). 
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At sentencing, the district judge adopted the PSR’s 

recommendations in their entirety.  See Tr. 39:11–12.2  In particular, the 

court imposed the two-level enhancement for the money laundering 

conspiracy conviction.  See id. 39:4–5.  In imposing the money laundering 

enhancement, the sentencing court stated that Mr. Hall “deserve[d] the 

two points” for the money laundering conspiracy conviction because he 

had been “convicted under [section] 1956” – the money laundering 

statute.  Id.  The court then found the resulting Guidelines range of 235 

to 293 months “appropriate” and imposed concurrent sentences of 293 

months for each of the money laundering conspiracy and bank fraud 

counts.  Id. 39:11, :22–24. 

Far from having no effect on the concurrent bank fraud sentences, 

the PSR and sentencing transcript show beyond doubt that the money 

laundering conspiracy conviction enhanced the bank fraud sentences.  

The effect of this Court’s failure to remand for resentencing remains 

incredibly significant for Mr. Hall:  The money laundering conspiracy 

conviction raised his minimum Guidelines sentence by 47 months (from 

188 months to 235 months) and his maximum Guidelines sentence by 58 

                                                      
2 An excerpt of the sentencing transcript is attached as Exhibit B. 
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months (from 235 months to 293 months).  See USSG Ch. 5, Pt. A (offense 

level 35 vs. offense level 37, criminal history II).  All together, the 

difference between the minimum Guidelines sentence after reversal of 

the money laundering conspiracy conviction and the 293-month sentence 

Mr. Hall actually received was 105 months – nearly nine years.  See id. 

II. Proceedings After Direct Appeal 

After this Court issued its opinion, Mr. Hall’s lawyer on appeal filed 

an unsuccessful petition for certiorari.  United States v. Hall, 562 U.S. 

1223 (2011) (mem.).  Mr. Hall, proceeding pro se, timely filed a motion in 

the district court to vacate his sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255.  Hall, 

No. 04-cr-543 (D.D.C.), ECF No. 227-1.  The district court appointed new 

counsel, who did not raise the failure to remand for resentencing in the 

counseled motion for a new trial under § 2255.  See id., ECF Nos. 236, 

240.  After an evidentiary hearing, the district court denied Mr. Hall’s 

§ 2255 motion, but granted a certificate of appealability on his ineffective 

assistance of trial counsel claim.  Id., ECF No. 273. 

This Court appointed Mr. Hall’s current counsel on July 16, 2019, 

to represent him on appeal of the district court’s denial of the ineffective 

assistance of counsel claim.  United States v. Hall, No. 18-3092 (D.C. 
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Cir.), Order of August 29, 2019.  After speaking with Mr. Hall, counsel 

obtained and reviewed his PSR; counsel then requested and received an 

order holding in abeyance the appeal of the § 2255 ineffective assistance 

of counsel claim to explore potential avenues for relief for the failure to 

remand, including the possibility of an indicative ruling in the district 

court.3  Id. 

Counsel also informed the United States of the error.  The parties 

now agree that Mr. Hall’s requested relief in this Court is appropriate:  

that the Court (1) grant the motion to recall the mandate, (2) amend the 

opinion by deleting the sentence preceding Roman numeral I and 

deleting the last sentence of the opinion and the parenthetical citation 

that follows, and (3) remand this case for resentencing. 

 

 

                                                      
3 The district court has granted the parties’ joint motion to suspend the 

briefing schedule for the motion for an indicative ruling in the district 

court until this Court rules on this motion to recall the mandate in Mr. 

Hall’s direct appeal.  See Hall, No. 04-cr-543 (D.D.C.), Minute Order of 

Nov. 19, 2019; see also id., ECF No. 284 (joint motion).  The parties have 

also filed a joint status report in the appeal from Mr. Hall’s § 2255 

proceedings asking the court to continue to hold that appeal in abeyance 

until this Court rules on the mandate-recall motion.  United States v. 

Hall, No. 18-3092 (D.C. Cir.), Joint Report of Nov. 19, 2019. 
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ARGUMENT 

“Appellate courts have inherent power to recall a mandate upon a 

showing of good cause, but should exercise it only in exceptional 

circumstances.”  Johnson v. Bechtel Assocs. Prof’l Corp., D.C., 801 F.2d 

412, 416 (D.C. Cir. 1986).  “The ‘good cause’ requisite for recall of mandate 

is the showing of need to avoid injustice.”  Greater Boston Tel. Corp. v. 

FCC, 463 F.2d 268, 277 (D.C. Cir. 1971); see also Dilley v. Alexander, 627 

F.2d 407, 410 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (court has “inherent power to recall a 

mandate upon a showing of good cause, as most persuasively expressed 

by the likelihood of injustice”).  The court’s power “should be exercised 

sparingly,” and there must be a “special reason” favoring recall.  Dilley, 

627 F.2d at 410. 

Mr. Hall’s case satisfies these requirements.  The government does 

not dispute that this Court’s failure to remand for resentencing was 

erroneous.  And now that the error has been brought to light, there can 

be no dispute that the concomitant failure to correct it would “work a 

grave injustice” on Mr. Hall.  See Laffey v. Nw. Airlines, Inc., 642 F.2d 

578, 585 (D.C. Cir. 1980).  Mr. Hall is currently serving a prison sentence 

based on a reversed conviction that raised his Guidelines range from 188-
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235 months to 235-293 months.  Under the correct Guidelines range of 

188-235 months applicable after reversal of the money laundering 

conspiracy conviction, a within-Guidelines sentence, when compared to 

his current 293-month sentence, could range from 58 months less at the 

high end of the Guidelines range (nearly five years) to 105 months less at 

the low end of the range (nearly nine years).  Requiring Mr. Hall to serve 

a longer prison term for a reversed conviction by depriving him of the 

opportunity for a resentencing he is entitled to would be manifestly 

unjust.  See Johnson v. United States, 544 U.S. 295, 303 (2005) (“[A] 

defendant given a sentence enhanced for a prior conviction is entitled to 

a reduction if the earlier conviction is vacated.”).  And there is no finality 

interest in requiring service of a sentence based on a reversed conviction. 

Indeed, an apparent oversight that results in an unlawful sentence 

is the archetypal exceptional circumstance that warrants a recall of the 

mandate.  “A criminal defendant should not be unlawfully condemned to 

five excessive years in prison – a ‘drastic loss of liberty’ – based on the 

sort of clear and obvious error [the court of appeals] made in this case.”  

United States v. Emeary, 794 F.3d 526, 530 (5th Cir. 2015) (Dennis, J., in 

chambers) (granting a motion to recall the mandate where a plain error 
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escaped notice of Anders counsel and the court of appeals on direct 

appeal) (citation omitted), remanding for resentencing, 611 F. App’x 218 

(5th Cir. 2015) (per curiam). 

This Court now has the opportunity to fix its mistake and grant Mr. 

Hall the resentencing he has been entitled to since the Court reversed his 

money laundering conspiracy conviction in 2010.  Mr. Hall respectfully 

requests that this Court (1) grant the motion to recall the mandate, (2) 

amend the opinion by deleting the sentence preceding Roman numeral I 

and deleting the last sentence of the opinion and the parenthetical 

citation that follows, and (3) remand his case for resentencing. 

 

Dated: November 25, 2019 /s/ Erica Hashimoto 

 Erica Hashimoto, Director 

Marcella Coburn, Attorney 

 Claire Gianotti, Student Attorney 

Samuel D. Kleinman, Student 

Attorney 

 Georgetown University Law Center 

 Appellate Litigation Program 

 111 F Street NW, Suite 306

 Washington, DC 20001 

 (202) 662-9555  

 applit@law.georgetown.edu 

 

 Counsel for Defendant–Appellant
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT 

 

 

United States of America, )   

  Appellee,  )  ORAL ARGUMENT: 

 )  April 13, 2010 

v. )   

 )   

Charles E. Hall, )  No. 07-3036 

  Defendant – Appellant. ) 

 

 

ADDENDUM – CERTIFICATE OF PARTIES 

Pursuant to D.C. Circuit Rules 27(a)(4) and 28(a)(1)(A), Defendant–

Appellant Charles E. Hall submits this certificate as to the parties as an 

addendum to his unopposed motion to recall the mandate. 

PARTIES, INTERVENORS, AND AMICI 

The parties to this appeal are Charles E. Hall and the United States 

of America.  The parties before the district court were Charles E. Hall 

and the United States of America.  Co-defendant Robbie Colwell was also 

a party before the district court, but is not a party to this appeal. 

There are no intervenors or amici. 

 

Dated: November 25, 2019 /s/ Erica Hashimoto 

 Erica Hashimoto, Director 

 Georgetown University Law Center 

 Appellate Litigation Program 
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 111 F Street NW, Suite 306 

 Washington, DC 20001 

 (202) 662-9555 

 applit@law.georgetown.edu 

 

 Counsel for Defendant–Appellant 
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United States v. Hall, 613 F.3d 

249 (D.C. Cir. 2010) 
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Cite as 613 F.3d 249 (D.C. Cir. 2010)

§ 3553, it only borrows factors to be con-
sidered in crafting release conditions, see
id. § 3583(c), implying that the omission of
a reference to § 3553’s explanation re-
quirement is deliberate.

The point of this opinion is not to resolve
this question.  The only issue in this case,
assuming a procedural challenge, is wheth-
er the district court’s failure to explain
release conditions was an obvious enough
error to constitute plain error.  As demon-
strated by the foregoing discussion, any
procedural error was far from clear.  But
there will no doubt be a case—perhaps in
the near future—in which this court will
have to provide clarity.

,

  

UNITED STATES of America, Appellee

v.

Charles E. HALL, Appellant.

No. 07–3036.

United States Court of Appeals,
District of Columbia Circuit.

Argued April 13, 2010.

Decided July 16, 2010.

Background:  Defendant was convicted by
jury in the United States District Court
for the District of Columbia, of conspiracy
to commit crimes against the United
States, bank fraud, wire fraud, and money
laundering conspiracy. Defendant appeal-
ed.

Holdings:  The Court of Appeals, Sentelle,
Chief Judge, held that:

(1) evidence was sufficient to convict de-
fendant of bank fraud;

(2) evidence was insufficient to convict de-
fendant of conspiracy to commit money
laundering; and

(3) exclusion of evidence did not violate
defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to
cross-examine witnesses.

Affirmed in part and reversed in part.

1. Banks and Banking O509.25
Evidence was sufficient to determine

that institutions allegedly defrauded by de-
fendant were wholly-owned subsidiaries of
federally insured banks, as required to
convict defendant of bank fraud; evidence
that bank was federally insured at time of
trial established that bank was in fact fed-
erally insured at time of fraud.  18
U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1344.

2. Criminal Law O1144.13(3), 1159.2(8,
9), 1159.4(2)

The Court of Appeals reviews suffi-
ciency-of-the-evidence challenges in the
light most favorable to the government,
giving full play to the right of the jury to
determine credibility, weigh the evidence
and draw justifiable inferences of fact.

3. Conspiracy O28(3)
Defendant’s alleged money laundering

activity was part and parcel of underlying
bank fraud, and thus evidence was insuffi-
cient to convict defendant of conspiracy to
commit money laundering; defendant’s
scheme involved fraudulently obtaining
bank loans for sale and purchase of prop-
erties, and to sell and purchase properties,
defendant went through settlement pro-
cess which involved presentation by buyers
of downpayments by cashier’s check.  18
U.S.C.A. § 1956(a)(1)(A)(i), (h).

4. Criminal Law O662.7
Exclusion of evidence regarding po-

tential sentences faced, or avoided, by co-
conspirators by pleading guilty did not vio-
late defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to
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cross-examine witnesses at trial for con-
spiracy to commit crimes against the Unit-
ed States, bank fraud, wire fraud, and
money laundering conspiracy, where ex-
cluded evidence would not have given jury
significantly different impression of any
bias.  U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6; 18
U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1344, 1956(a)(1)(A)(i), (h).

5. Criminal Law O662.7
Cross examination of the prosecution’s

witnesses is a right fundamentally guaran-
teed by the Confrontation Clause of the
Sixth Amendment; this Sixth Amendment
right, however, does not require a trial
court to permit unlimited cross-examina-
tion by defense counsel, but rather re-
quires the court to give a defendant a
realistic opportunity to ferret out a poten-
tial source of bias.  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 6.

6. Criminal Law O662.7
A violation of the right to cross-exam-

ine a witness under the Sixth Amendment
has occurred if a reasonable jury might
have received a significantly different im-
pression of the witness’s credibility had
defense counsel been permitted to pursue
his proposed line of cross-examination.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

7. Criminal Law O662.7
A violation of the right to cross-exam-

ine a witness under the Sixth Amendment
has not occurred so long as defense coun-
sel is able to elicit enough information to
allow a discriminating appraisal of the wit-
ness’s motives and bias.  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 6.

8. Criminal Law O419(2)
Statement that mortgage scheme was

legal was offered at trial for conspiracy to
commit crimes against the United States,
bank fraud, wire fraud, and money laun-
dering conspiracy to show that defendant
believed that scheme was legal, rather

than for its truth, and thus was not inad-
missible hearsay.  Fed.Rules Evid.Rule
801(c), 28 U.S.C.A.; 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1344,
1956(a)(1)(A)(i), (h).

9. Criminal Law O1153.1

The Court of Appeals reviews a dis-
trict court’s decision to exclude evidence
for abuse of discretion.

10. Banks and Banking O509.25

 Conspiracy O45

 Telecommunications O1018(3)

Testimony as to whether attorney had
told defendant that transactions were legal
did not make any fact then within consid-
eration of court or jury either more or less
probable than it would have been without
testimony, and thus testimony was not rel-
evant at trial for conspiracy to commit
crimes against the United States, bank
fraud, wire fraud, and money laundering
conspiracy.  Fed.Rules Evid.Rule 401, 28
U.S.C.A.; 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1344,
1956(a)(1)(A)(i), (h).

Appeal from the United States District
Court for the District of Columbia (No.
04cr00543–01).

Charles B. Wayne, appointed by the
court, argued the cause and filed the briefs
for appellant.

Katherine M. Kelly, Assistant U.S. At-
torney, argued the cause for appellee.
With her on the brief were Roy W.
McLeese III, Chrisellen R. Kolb, and Vir-
ginia Cheatham, Assistant U.S. Attorneys.

Before:  SENTELLE, Chief Judge,
GINSBURG and BROWN, Circuit Judges.

Opinion for the Court filed by Chief
Judge SENTELLE.
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Cite as 613 F.3d 249 (D.C. Cir. 2010)

SENTELLE, Chief Judge:

Charles Hall appeals from a judgment of
conviction imposed against him for one
count of conspiracy to commit crimes
against the United States, two counts of
bank fraud, four counts of wire fraud, and
one count of money laundering conspiracy.
He assigns error relating to both the ad-
mission and the sufficiency of evidence.
We affirm all convictions save the one
count of money laundering conspiracy,
which we reverse.  As the sentences on all
counts were concurrent, there is no need
for a remand for resentencing.

I

From April 2002 until May 2003 appel-
lant Charles Hall worked as a loan officer
at mortgage company Guaranty Residen-
tial Lending (‘‘GRL’’).  While in this posi-
tion, Hall became involved in a scheme
with six others to ‘‘flip’’ numerous residen-
tial properties in Washington, D.C. In
perpetrating the scheme, co-conspirator
Alan Davis would buy homes in disrepair.
Hall would then find straw buyers to pur-
chase the homes from Davis.  Before the
homes were resold to the straw buyers,
however, co-conspirator Robbie Colwell, a
sham appraiser, would appraise the homes
in disrepair as if they had been renovated.
These higher (false) appraisals were then
sent to GRL and another mortgage compa-
ny, National City Mortgage Company
(‘‘NCM’’).  These lending institutions
would then provide mortgage funding, fa-
cilitated by co-conspirators Susan Shelton
and Marcus Wiseman, underwriters at
GRL and later NCM. The funds were sent
to co-conspirator Vicki Robinson, the set-
tlement agent for the property sales.
Robinson worked for Vanguard Title, a
settlement company owned by attorney
Marc Sliffman.  Robinson would give a
portion of the funds to Hall, who would
then convert a portion of those funds into

cashier’s checks in the amount that the
straw buyer was supposed to bring to set-
tlement as a downpayment.  At settlement
Hall would receive the loan proceeds, iden-
tified on the property settlement docu-
ments as reimbursement for ‘‘rehab con-
struction,’’ most of which was never done.
Instead, Hall took the money as income for
himself.  Most of the properties involved
later went into foreclosure, with a result-
ing loss to GRL and NCM of over $5
million.

Hall was indicted on charges of conspir-
acy, bank fraud, wire fraud, and money
laundering.  At trial Hall’s co-conspirators,
who had pled guilty to charges against
them, testified against Hall. Hall testified
in his own defense, claiming that Robinson
and Sliffman had told him that what he
was doing was legal.  He was found guilty
as charged by the jury, and sentenced to
293 months on each of the bank fraud and
money laundering charges, and 60 months
on each of the remaining charges.  All
sentences were imposed to run concurrent-
ly.

On appeal Hall raises six issues.  First,
he argues that the government failed to
prove the elements of bank fraud.  Next,
he claims that the government failed to
prove the elements of conspiracy to com-
mit money laundering.  Third, he claims
that his Sixth Amendment rights were vio-
lated when he was precluded from cross-
examining the government’s witnesses on
the details of their plea agreements.
Fourth, he asserts that the district court
erred in refusing to allow evidence in sup-
port of his defense that he lacked the
specific intent necessary to commit the
charged offenses.  Fifth, he claims that
the district court erred in treating the
sentencing guidelines as presumptively ap-
plicable.  Finally, he contends that a hear-
ing should be ordered on his ineffective
assistance of counsel claim.  Because we
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see no merit in Hall’s claims that the
district court erred in treating the guide-
lines as presumptively reasonable or that a
hearing should be ordered on his ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel claim, our discus-
sion is limited to his arguments concerning
the sufficiency-of-the-evidence and his evi-
dentiary objections.

II

[1] We turn first to Hall’s challenge to
the sufficiency of the evidence against him
on the bank fraud counts.  Hall was
charged with, and found guilty of, two
counts of bank fraud in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1344 & 2;  one count alleged the
defrauding of GRL and the other the de-
frauding of NCM. To prove bank fraud
under § 1344 the government must show
that the defendant knowingly defrauded a
federally insured financial institution.  See,
e.g., United States v. Brandon, 17 F.3d
409, 424 (1st Cir.1994).  At trial, the gov-
ernment put forth evidence showing that
GRL was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
federally insured Guaranty Bank, and that
NCM was an operating subsidiary of fed-
erally insured National City Bank of
Indiana.  Hall does not dispute the accura-
cy of this evidence, but he argues that
without more the evidence was insufficient
to prove that the parent banks were vic-
tims of the fraud.  He also argues that the
evidence failed to prove that Guaranty
Bank was federally insured from April
2002 to May 2003, the time of the alleged
fraud, because the only evidence put forth
by the government showed that Guaranty
Bank was insured on February 14, 2005,
but no earlier.  The government disagrees,
arguing that the evidence was sufficient to
support Hall’s conviction of defrauding
federally insured financial institutions.

[2] We review sufficiency-of-the-evi-
dence challenges in the light most favor-
able to the government, ‘‘giving full play to

the right of the jury to determine credibili-
ty, weigh the evidence and draw justifiable
inferences of fact.’’  United States v. Car-
son, 455 F.3d 336, 368–69 (D.C.Cir.2006).
There is little precedent on the sufficiency
of evidence governing this issue.  As the
First Circuit has observed, ‘‘[n]either the
statute nor the case law fully instructs just
how tight a factual nexus is required to
allow a jury to decide that a scheme, for-
mally aimed at one (uninsured) company,
operates in substance to defraud another
(insured) entity with whom the defendant
has not dealt directly.’’  United States v.
Edelkind, 467 F.3d 791, 797 (1st Cir.2006).
The easier case for us is that of GRL:
being wholly owned by federally insured
Guaranty Bank, a loss to GRL would con-
stitute a loss to Guaranty Bank. See Unit-
ed States v. White, 882 F.2d 250, 253 (7th
Cir.1989) (‘‘A wholly owned subsidiary is,
by definition, wholly owned by its parent,
so it is natural to attribute its assets to the
parent.’’).  A somewhat more difficult situ-
ation arises with respect to NCM, de-
scribed at trial only as an operating sub-
sidiary of federally insured National City
Bank of Indiana.  However, even though
NCM was not, like GRL, described as a
wholly owned subsidiary, its status as an
operating subsidiary implies at least a ma-
jority or controlling interest held by Na-
tional City Bank of Indiana, and conse-
quently a loss to NCM would constitute a
loss to federally insured National City
Bank of Indiana.

We are not quite finished with our insur-
ance discussion, however, as Hall contends
that in any event Guaranty Bank was not
shown to be federally insured from April
2002 to May 2003, the time of the alleged
fraud.  He notes that the government put
forth evidence showing only that Guaranty
Bank was federally insured as of February
14, 2005.  We confronted a similar situa-
tion in United States v. Nnanyererugo, 39
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F.3d 1205 (D.C.Cir.1994).  In that case the
defendant, like Hall, was charged with, and
convicted of, bank fraud under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1344.  He too claimed that the govern-
ment did not prove that the defrauded
bank was federally insured at the time of
the offense.  The only evidence of such
insurance came from the trial testimony of
an official of the defrauded bank, given two
years after the crime took place.  That
official stated at trial that the bank ‘‘is’’
federally insured.  We nevertheless ruled
‘‘that the government may rely on testimo-
ny of present insured status as evidence of
its prior existence, ‘at least where the time
span is not too great and there is no
suggestion of an intervening circumstance
that might call its previous existence into
question.’ ’’ Nnanyererugo, 39 F.3d at 1208
(quoting United States v. Sliker, 751 F.2d
477, 484 (2d Cir.1984)).  We concluded that
the bank official’s ‘‘testimony was suffi-
ciently close in time (two years) to the date
the crime took place to justify a jury infer-
ence that the bank was previously in-
sured.’’  Id. at 1209 (citing Sliker, 751 F.2d
at 484, which held that an unspecified
length of time (at most 3 years) was ‘‘not
too great’’).  Reasoning consistently with
Nnanyererugo and Sliker, we hold that a
trier of fact could reasonably infer from
the trial evidence that during the time
period of Hall’s bank fraud, which was two
to three years before the evidence showed
federally insured status, Guaranty Bank
was in fact federally insured.  Therefore,
we conclude that the evidence was suffi-
cient to support Hall’s conviction for de-
frauding federally insured financial institu-
tions.

Before ending our insurance discussion,
however, we must, as we did in Nnanyere-
rugo in 1994, castigate the government for
not taking the simple steps necessary to
prevent this insurance-status problem.  As
we stated those many years ago, quoting
Sliker, 751 F.2d at 484, ‘‘we are bemused

to discover that the Justice Department
‘still has not effectively instructed prosecu-
tors to ask the simple question that would
avoid the need for judicial consideration of
what should be a non-problem.’ ’’ Nna-
nyererugo, 39 F.3d at 1208.  The govern-
ment should not continue to test its luck
and our patience.  We perceive no expla-
nation, nor has the government offered
one, as to why the government should not
be introducing certificates reflecting the
dates in the indictment rather than the one
reflecting the institutions’ insured status at
some later date.  The sufficiency of evi-
dence is always situational.  The govern-
ment should not find out the hard way
what change in circumstances would be
sufficient to render its inadequate per-
formance on this issue fatal to a conviction.

III

[3] We turn next to Hall’s claim that
the government failed to prove the ele-
ments of conspiracy to commit money
laundering.  Hall was charged in the in-
dictment with, and found guilty by the jury
of, conspiracy to commit money laundering
in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(A)(i)
and 1956(h).  During Hall’s trial, Robin-
son, the settlement agent from Vanguard
Title, testified that at settlements for three
of the properties with which Hall was in-
volved, she received the loan money from
the lender and gave Hall a check for the
rehab construction alleged to have been
done.  Robinson further testified that after
receiving his check Hall would then go to a
bank where he would get Robinson a cash-
ier’s check for the amount of the funds the
buyer was to bring to the closing.  Accord-
ing to the government, Robinson’s testimo-
ny showed that Hall’s bank fraud offense
was complete when Robinson received the
loan money from the lender, and that
Hall’s money laundering offense occurred
when he took his check from Robinson and
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used part of it for down-payment cashier’s
checks.  Hall argues that the evidence was
insufficient to support his money launder-
ing conviction because the alleged money
laundering activity was part and parcel of
the underlying bank fraud. We agree with
Hall.

Section 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) of 18 U.S.C. pro-
hibits money laundering, while § 1956(h)
penalizes conspiracy to commit money
laundering.  Section 1956(a)(1) states,
‘‘Whoever, knowing that the property in-
volved in a financial transaction represents
the proceeds of some form of unlawful
activity, conducts or attempts to conduct
such a financial transaction which in fact
involves the proceeds of specified unlawful
activity—(A)(i) with the intent to promote
the carrying on of specified unlawful activi-
ty TTT shall be sentenced to a fine TTT or
imprisonmentTTTT’’ The offense of money
laundering must be separate and distinct
from the underlying offense that generat-
ed the money to be laundered.  See United
States v. Castellini, 392 F.3d 35, 47 (1st
Cir.2004) (money laundering ‘‘cannot be
the same as the illegal activity which pro-
duces the proceeds’’);  United States v.
Butler, 211 F.3d 826, 830 (4th Cir.2000)
(‘‘the laundering of funds cannot occur in
the same transaction through which those
funds first became tainted by crime’’);
United States v. Mankarious, 151 F.3d
694, 706 (7th Cir.1998) (‘‘a money launder-
ing transaction TTT must be separate from
any transaction necessary for the predi-
cate offense to generate proceeds’’);  Unit-
ed States v. Edgmon, 952 F.2d 1206, 1213
(10th Cir.1991) (‘‘Congress appears to have
intended the money laundering statute to
be a separate crime distinct from the un-
derlying offense that generated the money
to be laundered.’’).

Hall’s scheme involved fraudulently ob-
taining bank loans for the sale and pur-
chase of properties.  To sell and purchase

the properties, Hall went through the set-
tlement process which involved the presen-
tation by the buyers of downpayments by
cashier’s check.  In other words, comple-
tion of the settlement process made the
bank fraud successful.  If the bank fraud
offense was complete when Robinson re-
ceived the loan money from the lender, as
the government argues, and the defen-
dants at that point had just stopped the
settlement process and run off with the
money, the bank fraud would not have
been very successful, to say the least.

Moreover, Hall was charged in the in-
dictment with two counts of devising a
scheme to defraud banks GRL and NCM.
The two counts reference specific preced-
ing paragraphs of the indictment for a
description of the bank fraud scheme.
These descriptive paragraphs state that
the banks required cash from the borrow-
er to purchase property, and that Hall
‘‘used a portion of the loan money to fund
the ‘cash from borrower’ by purchasing
cashier’s checks so that it would appear as
though the buyers had paid their own
money as part of the purchase price.’’  Ad-
ditionally, the indictment alleged that the
goal of the conspiracy was, in pertinent
part, to ‘‘obtain in excess of 5.3 million
[dollars] by TTT after the settlement pro-
cess, using the loan money to purchase
cashier’s checks so that the borrowers’
cash appeared to have come from the buy-
ersTTTT’’ Consequently, based on the
scheme alleged in the indictment, this pur-
chasing of cashier’s checks to be used as
cash from the borrowers at settlement was
a necessary element to complete the bank
fraud.  This same transaction, however,
was alleged in the indictment as the overt
act for money laundering.  Viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the
government, we conclude that this same
transaction cannot be money laundering.
As we have already noted, the offense of
money laundering must be separate and
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distinct from the underlying offense that
generated the money to be laundered.  We
further note that the alleged money laun-
dering transaction at issue is, in this in-
stance, an expense of the bank fraud, and
an expense of an underlying fraud cannot
be money laundering.  United States v.
Santos, 553 U.S. 507, 128 S.Ct. 2020, 2027,
170 L.Ed.2d 912 (2008) (‘‘a criminal who
enters into a transaction paying the ex-
penses of his illegal activity cannot possi-
bly violate the money-laundering statute’’).

IV

[4] Hall contends next that his Sixth
Amendment rights were violated when he
was precluded from cross-examining the
government’s witnesses on the details of
their plea agreements.  During trial Hall’s
attorney attempted to cross-examine two
of Hall’s co-conspirators, who were testify-
ing against him for the government, on the
effect their plea agreements would have on
their potential prison sentences.  In par-
ticular, Hall’s attorney asked Alan Davis,
who had been charged with bank fraud,
whether he ever learned what the prison
sentence was for that crime, and ques-
tioned Susan Conner on whether she un-
derstood that the charges against her
could result in 30 years of prison time.
The government objected to each of these
questions, and the district court sustained
the objections.  Hall argues on appeal that
in sustaining the government’s objections,
the district court prohibited him from
cross-examining the co-conspirators on the
details of their plea agreements and thus
deprived him of an important means of
exposing any bias, violating his Sixth
Amendment right to confront the wit-
nesses against him.  The government ar-
gues that additional cross-examination of
the coconspirators on the terms of their
plea agreements was sufficient to satisfy
Hall’s Sixth Amendment rights.

[5–7] Cross examination of the prose-
cution’s witnesses is a right fundamentally
guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause of
the Sixth Amendment.  United States v.
George, 532 F.3d 933, 934 (D.C.Cir.2008).
This Sixth Amendment right, however,
‘‘does not require a trial court to permit
unlimited cross-examination by defense
counsel,’’ but rather requires ‘‘the court to
give a defendant a ‘realistic opportunity to
ferret out a potential source of bias.’ ’’
United States v. Davis, 127 F.3d 68, 70
(D.C.Cir.1997) (quoting United States v.
Derr, 990 F.2d 1330, 1334 (D.C.Cir.1993));
see also United States v. Anderson, 881
F.2d 1128, 1139 (D.C.Cir.1989) (A trial
court ‘‘may limit cross-examination only
after there has been permitted, as a mat-
ter of right, a certain threshold level of
cross-examination which satisfies the con-
stitutional requirement.’’).  A violation of
the right has occurred if ‘‘ ‘[a] reasonable
jury might have received a significantly
different impression of [the witness’s]
credibility had [defense] counsel been per-
mitted to pursue his proposed line of
cross-examination.’ ’’ Davis, 127 F.3d at
70–71 (quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall,
475 U.S. 673, 680, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89
L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)).  A violation has not
occurred ‘‘so long as defense counsel is
able to elicit enough information to allow a
discriminating appraisal of the witness’s
motives and bias.’’  United States v. Gra-
ham, 83 F.3d 1466, 1474 (D.C.Cir.1996)
(internal quotations and citation omitted).
In the present case, the district court al-
lowed Davis to testify on cross-examina-
tion that he had made a deal with the
government, that pursuant to the deal he
was going to be treated favorably in ex-
change for his testimony, that the govern-
ment was allowing him to plead guilty to
only one offense, and that without the plea
agreement he was facing substantially
more charges.  The court also allowed
Conner to testify on cross-examination
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that she had made a deal with the govern-
ment and that she had been allowed to
plead guilty to only one count of bank
bribery.  Taking this evidence allowed by
the district court into consideration, the
evidence disallowed regarding the poten-
tial sentences faced, or avoided, by Davis
and Conner by pleading guilty would not
have given the jury ‘‘a significantly differ-
ent impression’’ of any bias.  We conclude
that the district court allowed sufficient
cross-examination of Davis and Conner on
their plea bargains to satisfy Hall’s Sixth
Amendment rights.

V

Finally, Hall argues that the district
court erred in refusing to allow evidence in
support of his defense that he lacked the
specific intent necessary to commit the
charged offenses.  During trial Hall’s at-
torney attempted to cross-examine the co-
conspirators testifying for the government
about what attorney Marc Sliffman, the
owner of Vanguard Title, had told them
about the legality of the mortgage scheme.
The district court disallowed this line of
cross-examination following an objection
by the government.  Hall argues on appeal
that the district court erred in sustaining
the government’s objection in that the rul-
ing denied him the opportunity to present
evidence supporting his defense that he
lacked the specific intent required for each
of the charged offenses.  He contends that
at the time of the attempted cross-exami-
nation he had planned to argue, as his
primary defense, that he believed that all
of his conduct was legal because of state-
ments made to him and his co-conspirators
by attorney Sliffman.  If such cross-exami-
nation had been permitted, Hall claims, his
co-conspirators would have corroborated
his own direct testimony, given later, that
attorney Sliffman had stated that the
transactions were legal.  In its brief, the
government’s main response to Hall’s ar-

gument is that the district court did not
err in its evidentiary ruling because the
testimony Hall sought to elicit constituted
impermissible hearsay.

[8, 9] We review a district court’s deci-
sion to exclude evidence for abuse of dis-
cretion.  United States v. Lipscomb, 702
F.2d 1049, 1068 (D.C.Cir.1983).  We begin
by noting that although the district court
sustained the government’s objection, the
court gave no express reason for its deci-
sion, and our analysis is consequently
somewhat more difficult.  The govern-
ment’s argument at the time of its objec-
tion was that the questioning was not al-
lowable because the testimony elicited
would have been hearsay.  Hearsay is a
statement made out of court that is ‘‘of-
fered in evidence to prove the truth of the
matter asserted.’’  Fed.R.Evid. 801(c).
But the statement here was not offered for
its truth, i.e., that the mortgage scheme
was legal;  rather, it was offered to show
that Hall believed that the scheme was
legal.  The elicited testimony was there-
fore not hearsay and the government’s
counsel admitted as much at oral argu-
ment.  Consequently the testimony was
not excludable on that basis.

Nevertheless, the district court did not
err in excluding the testimony.  In United
States v. Hemphill, 514 F.3d 1350, 1360
(D.C.Cir.2008), we noted that although the
right to cross-examination was ‘‘an impor-
tant component of the right of confronta-
tion,’’ the trial court nevertheless ‘‘retains
broad discretion to control cross-examina-
tion.’’  We noted in particular that the trial
court ‘‘may prevent questioning that does
not meet the basic requirement of relevan-
cy, as well as other factors affecting admis-
sibility.’’  Id. (internal quotations and cita-
tion omitted).  In this case, the testimony
called for by the examiner’s question did
not meet the minimal standard of rele-
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vance.  The Federal Rules of Evidence
provide an explicit definition of ‘‘relevant
evidence’’:

‘‘Relevant evidence’’ means evidence
having any tendency to make the exis-
tence of any fact that is of consequence
to the determination of the action more
probable or less probable than it would
be without the evidence.

Fed.R.Evid. 401.

[10] Testimony as to whether attor-
ney Sliffman had told Hall that the trans-
actions were legal did not make any fact
then within the consideration of the court
or jury either more or less probable than
it would have been without the testimony.
When questioned on this subject at oral
argument, defense counsel stated, consis-
tent with the trial record, that the evi-
dence was offered to corroborate testimo-
ny that the defense expected to offer
during its case in chief.  As it developed,
perhaps the disputed testimony may have
been relevant after the defense made
such an introduction in its case in chief.
However, at the time the district court
made its ruling, no such testimony was
before it.  While it is true, as appellant
argues on appeal, that trial courts from
time to time may admit evidence that is
not yet relevant subject to its being
stricken should its relevance not be
shown later, we can hardly say that the
district court abused its discretion by re-
fusing to admit evidence that was not
then relevant.  This is especially true in
the case at bar.  The defense proffer is
based on the theory that the evidence
would corroborate testimony to be given
later by the defendant.  The choice of
whether to testify is a personal right of
the defendant.  See Jones v. Barnes, 463
U.S. 745, 751, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 77 L.Ed.2d
987 (1983).  If the evidence were admit-
ted subject to being stricken, and the de-
fendant did not testify or testified incon-

sistently with the disputed testimony,
then the judge’s act in ordering it strick-
en might well call to the jury’s attention
in an arguably impermissible manner the
fact that the defendant had exercised his
rights against self incrimination.  See
generally Griffin v. California, 380 U.S.
609, 85 S.Ct. 1229, 14 L.Ed.2d 106 (1965)
(explaining that commenting on a defen-
dant’s failure to testify violates the Fifth
Amendment).  We are not deciding that
it would have been error for the judge to
run that risk, but it certainly was not
error for him to refuse to do so.  In
short, we conclude that the district
court’s sustaining of the government’s ob-
jection was not an abuse of discretion.

VI

In summary, we affirm Hall’s convic-
tions on bank fraud, reject his evidentiary
objections, and reject also his sentencing
guidelines and inadequacy of counsel
claims.  We reverse his money laundering
conviction, representing the charges under
18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 1956(h).
Since concurrent sentences of 293 months
were imposed on each of the bank fraud
charges as well as on the money launder-
ing charge, no remand for resentencing is
necessary. See, e.g., United States v. Kear-
ney, 498 F.2d 61, 63 n. 2 (D.C.Cir.1974)
(remand for resentencing unnecessary
where concurrent sentences imposed for
both vacated convictions and affirmed con-
victions).

So ordered.

,
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1 the conspiracy, and he made the lion share by multiples. 

2 Sherman Joseph didn't make the money. The banks didn't make 

3 the money. They loaned out $14 million in loans which they 

4 didn't get paid back. They lost $5 million. It was Charles 

5 Hall who the victims trusted. The straw purchasers gave him 

6 their names, their social security numbers, their dates of 

7 birth. They trusted him. The bank trusted him to do what 

8 he was supposed to do, not to bribe everyone in order to 

9 make the conspiracy happen. There is no doubt, the jury 

10 believed, that he committed perjury beyond a reasonable 

11 doubt. So, therefore, we believe the sentencing guidelines 

12 are appropriate, and we'd ask for the Court to provide a 

13 sentence which adequately reflects the seriousness of this 

14 offense. Thank you. 

15 MR. BEANE: May I, your Honor? 

16 THE COURT: No. 

17 MR. BEANE: Well, without further arguing, may I 

18 point out to the Court that there are several people in the 

19 gallery who wanted the address the Court on behalf of Mr. 

20 Hall? 

21 

22 

23 letters. 

THE COURT: Nope, I've got their letters . 

MR. BEANE: No, these are people who didn't write 

24 THE COURT: Nope, I have enough. I've tried this 

25 case. I've heard the witnesses. I've heard Mr. Hall. I've 
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1 heard argument of counsel, and I've heard the arguments of 

2 the government. 

3 This drama began several years ago when Mr. Hall 

4 was convicted of uttering a check that did not belong to 

5 him, and to use the vernacular of the street, Mr. Hall was 

6 convicted of being a thief. 

7 Subsequently, Mr . Hall obtained a job for the loan 

B company, and when asked whether he was ever convicted of a 

9 crime or a felony, he denied that and he got that job. So 

10 now we have a lying thief put in place. 

11 Mr. Hall, through his position as a loan officer, 

12 was able to cajole or convince people to invest monies into 

13 a scheme in which the banks lost-over $5 million, and Mr. 

14 Hall himself prospered. Five million dollars is a lot of 

15 money, and it impacts upon the bank, and also impacts the 

16 community. What I am struck by the testimony and the 50,000 

17 and 40,000 that the straw purchasers lost, and the impact 

18 that it had on them, loss of security clearance, impact upon 

19 future earnings, filing for bankruptcy, it's devastating. 

20 Mr. Hall said he never intended to hurt anyone, 

21 but the road to hell is paved with good intentions. Whether 

22 he intended to hurt someone or not, this is exactly what he 

23 did. 

24 I reject the arguments of counsel for Mr. Hall . I 

25 do think that he was a leader, an organizer. But for him, 
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1 these schemes would not have worked. But for him paying 

2 Mr . Caldwell, Davis, Vicki Robinson, Susan Connor, Weisman 

3 and others, the banks and the straw purchasers would not 

4 have lost money . I do find that he was convicted under 

5 1956, and he deserves the two points. 

6 I heard Mr. Hall testify, and he denied bribing 

7 his underlings, and I heard the underlings say, "Yes, we 

8 were bribed by Mr. Hall, " and I find that Mr. Hall did 

9 cormnit perjury, and he is entitled to a two-point 

1 O enhancement . 

11 I think the guideline range is appropriate, 235 to 

12 293 months. The guidelines say that I must, and I do, take 

13 the guidelines and look at 3553(a} of Title 18. One of the 

14 things 3553(a) says is that we must protect the community. 

15 I think the community must be protected from Mr. Hall, who 

16 is a predator, and the people that he deals with, their 

17 preys. He's demonstrated that. 

18 I am going to sentence the defendant, Mr. Hall, to 

19 the custody of the Attorney General, or his duly authorized 

20 representative, for a period of 293 months. I'm going to 

21 sentence the defendant to 60 months on each count, one, 

22 four, five, six and seven, and 293 months on Counts two, 

23 three and eight, the counts to run current, for a total of 

24 293 months . 

25 I'm ordering restitution in the amount of 
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